IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 06-2091

ALVIN MORTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0005584
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE
3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit courts denial of Mr. Mortons motion for post conviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On January 28, 1992 Alvin Morton was arrested and subsequently charged with two counts of first degree murder in the deaths of Madeleine Weisser and John Bowers which occurred on late January 26th or early January 27th of 1992. John Swisher and Gary Urso were appointed to represent Mr. Morton in January, 1992 and October, 1992, respectively.

Mr. Mortons first trial was held in February of 1994. He was convicted on both counts. The sentencing phase began February 8th and concluded February 9th. The jury recommended death by an 11 to 1 vote on both counts. The trial court found the following aggravators for each of the murders: (1)CCP; (2)the murder was committed during the course of a robbery or burglary; (3)the murder was committed for the dominant purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. As to Ms. Weisser, the trial court also found HAC and contemporaneous previous capital felony (the murder of Mr. Bowers). The trial court found the following mitigation: Alvins age and lack of significant prior criminal history (very little weight); Alvins family background, mental problems, physical and mental abuse and his voluntary confession (little weight). This Court remanded for a new sentencing based on improper impeachment of

witnesses. Morton v. State, 689 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1997).

In March of 1997, the trial court reappointed Mr. Swisher and Mr. Urso. The retrial began approximately two years later, on February 8, 1999. Jury selection took less than one day. The State-s case was presented over the course of three days, February 8th through 10th, with rebuttal testimony presented on February 11th. The defense case lasted a mere five hours, with less than two hours of testimony February 10th and three hours of testimony February 11th.1999TR, V. I, p. 107-114

The jury again recommended death 11 to 1. The trial court found the same aggravators to both murders, each of which it assigned great weight: (1) CCP, (2) murder occurred during the commission of a robbery or burglary or both, (3) avoiding arrest. As to Ms. Weisser, the trial court found the same additional aggravators, (1)HAC and (2)prior contemporaneous violent felony. The trial court found the following mitigators: (1) Alvins age of 19; (2) lack of significant prior history; (3)dysfunctional family; (4) little contact with his mother during the first four weeks of his life; (5) physical and mental abuse by his father until age eight, and (5) confession and cooperation with police. All were given little weight except prior history was given some weight.

This Court affirmed, finding that the trial court did not

abuse its discretion in failing to find mental health mitigation. Morton v. State,789 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 2001).

Mr. Morton timely filed a Motion For Post-Conviction Relief. On February 13, 2003 the lower court entered an Order granting in part an evidentiary hearing and denying in part Mr. Morton-S Motion. The lower court heard evidence in October, 2003 and January, 2004. The lower court also took judicial notice of the entire case file and the record on appeal for the 1994 and 1999 trials upon agreement by the parties. On May 9, 2005, Mr. Morton filed an amended motion, raising two claims based on newly discovered evidence and retroactive change in the law. On April 4, 2006, the lower court denied all claims. Mr. Morton filed a Motion for Rehearing on April 19, 2006. The lower court denied the motion on September 12, 2006. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Testimony and evidence admitted at the post conviction hearing established the following facts.

Trial Attorney Mitigation Investigation

Mr. Swisher had primary responsibility for the guilt phase

^{1.} The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on Claims I and II with the exception of claim I(G). Claim III was abandoned at the Huff hearing. The remaining claims were denied without hearing with the caveat that the lower court would reconsider Claim VII on its own motion if sufficient evidence was presented at the evidentiary hearing.

and Mr. Urso had primary responsibility for the penalty phase.

ROA V. XIV, p. 12. Alvin-s case was the first and only death

penalty case Mr. Urso ever tried. ROA V. XIV, p. 19.

Billing records reflect he met with Alvin only three times prior to trial in 1994 and that he spoke with Barbara Stacy, Alvin-s mother, only once by telephone a few weeks prior to trial. ROA V. XIV, p. 21-23; V. XI, p. 2109-11. He never went to the family home. ROA V. XIV, p. 122-23. Although counsel claimed he spoke to aunts and some teachers, he was unable to provide any details concerning such interviews. ROA V. XIV, p. 12; 34-38. Mr. Urso never asked anyone to prepare a comprehensive history of Alvin. ROA V. XIV, p. 54. The only records he remembered reviewing were school records but was unsure when, how or from whom he obtained them. ROA V. XIV, p. 27-28, 33 and 180, 182. He recalled seeing Department of Corrections records but could not describe any details about them. ROA V. XIV, p. 31-33. He acknowledged that he never sought releases to obtain records. ROA V. XIV, p. 28, 39.

The entire investigation by Mr. Krisanda, Mr. Ursoss investigator, consisted of interviewing Alvin, his mother and his sister and obtaining newspaper clippings of the case. ROA V. XV, p. 254. Mr. Urso retained a social worker, Mimi Pisters, about six weeks prior to trial; his billing records reveal he

first spoke to her three weeks prior to trial. ROA V. XV, p. 224, 238. She had no death penalty experience. ROA V. XV, p. 236. The only background information Mr. Urso gave her were newspaper articles about the crime. 1999TR - 550. After the case was remanded, Mr. Urso gave her a transcript of Alvin-s confession. 1999TR - 565. The only witnesses she spoke to were Alvin-s mother and sister. 1999TR - 531. She would have liked to review school records and talk to teachers but did not attempt to do so, even though one of the schools was Ajust up the road.@ 1999TR - 566.

Approximately eight weeks before trial, Mr. Urso asked the court to appoint a psychologist, Dr. DelBeato, to determine competency and evaluate Alvin. Dr. DelBeato met with Alvin only once, approximately three weeks prior to trial. HRNG - 891. Mr. Urso did not provide Dr. DelBeato any records or background information. ROA V. XIV, p. 54, 160-61. Dr. DelBeato-s trial testimony in 1994 and 1999 corroborates the fact that he was not given any records or information to review. At the hearing, however, Dr. DelBeato claimed he received some documents and background information but could not provide specifics.

Investigation After Remand

After the 1997 remand, Mr. Urso reviewed the Sentencing Order. Def. Ex. 4; ROA Vol. XI, p. 1792-1802 He admitted that he

did not do any further investigation to attempt to counter Judge Villanti=s findings giving little weight to mitigation. ROA V. XIV, p. 108-09. Mr. Urso-s billing records reflect he met with Alvin only three times in the two years prior to his retrial. Def. Ex. 5; ROA, Vol. XI, p. 1803-1816. Mr. Swisher=s billing records reflect his only contact with Alvin in the two years prior to retrial was a single collect telephone call in 1998, although he claimed he must have met with him but could not provide a date or time. ROA V. XV, P.277. Mr. Swisher admitted that he could not testify that anything was done differently in 1999. Id at 284. He testified that Mr. Urso spoke to Alvin about a PET scan or MRI, which Alvin said he did not want. ROA Vol. XXI, p. 1141. Both Mr. Swisher and Dr. DelBeato sent letters to Mr. Urso urging Mr. Urso to not use Dr. DelBeato at trial. Def. Ex. 2; ROA Vol. XI, p. 1790; Def. Ex. 3; ROA Vol. XI, p. 1791 Although Mr. Urso testified the court would have provided another expert had he asked, he never made the request. ROA V. XV, p. 244. Mr. Swisher confirmed funding was available to obtain another expert and he Anever had a motion for costs denied.@ Id. at 311.

When asked about his strategy and investigation after the mandate, Mr. Urso admitted he Agot that uncomfortable feeling ... when [the state] cross-examined [Mimi Pisters about newspaper

clippings] and Dr. DelBeato about documents,@ but never did anything about it. ROA V. XIV, p. 107 -109. He presented antisocial because that was Aall we had.@ ROA V. XIV, p. 56, 102-05.

Testimony of Prevailing Norms of Capital Defense in the 1990s

Capital defense attorney Robert Norgard stated that the prevailing norms in the 1990s established that defense counsel should investigate all aspects of mitigation. ROA V. XXI, p. 1170-75. A capital case Anecessitates a very thorough investigation that can involve a couple hundred, several hundred hours of investigation. Id. at 1176.

Counsel, or their investigator or mitigation specialist, should attempt to obtain a comprehensive history on the client and his family members. Id. at 1170. Counsel should attempt to obtain information on generations of relatives and the relationships of various family members. Id. Obtaining information relevant to physical and sexual abuse is also important. HRNG - 1097. The standard practice is to obtain signed releases to get confidential records on clients, siblings and parents. Id. 1171. Obtaining records on birth trauma is standard, Id. 1172-75, because it is an important identifier of possible brain damage. 1177-79. Divorce decrees, bankruptcy records and police reports documenting facts of a crime are all

basic records reasonably competent counsel would look for. Id. 1172-75.

Mitigation investigation is an ongoing process, which must continue after remand. The standard is for counsel to review the sentencing order and then reinvestigate the case, especially where the court found the mitigation lacking. Id. at 1183-85.

Post Conviction Mitigation Investigation

Post conviction counsel retained Claudia Baker to conduct a social history/mitigation investigation. Ms. Baker has a masters in social work, is certified in forensic social work and was accepted as an expert in forensic social work without objection. ROA V. XV, p. 319; 323. During the course of her investigation she spoke to 21 people and reviewed and obtained extensive documentary evidence, ROA V. XV, p.323 -28, including: (1) Alvin-s medical records evidencing an anoxic, premature birth by forceps and a hole in his lung diagnosed at age eight months, St. Ex. 1, ROA, Vol. XI, p. 1761-64, (2) Les Stacy=s military records documenting his misconduct discharge for assault, ROA Vol. XI, 1876-1877, (3) military records documenting Virgil=s р. misconduct discharge for manslaughter, ROA, Vol. XI, p. 1900-1909 (4)prison records finding Virgil to be a sociopath with Asexual deviation, @ROA Vol. XI, p. 1924, 1927(5) police reports detailing where Virgil did Abeat and stomp to death@ a 21 year

old AFilipino@ man, ROA Vol. XII, p. 1960 (6) the Stacy=s bankruptcy records, ROA Vol. XI, p. 1917 (7) Barbara Stacy and Virgil Morton=s divorce decree, ROA Vol. XI, p. 1829, (8) Virgil=s arrest report for assaulting Barbara ROA Vol. XI, p. 1853-1855, and (9) records detailing Virgil=s mental illness, alcoholism and history of arson. ROA Vol. XII, p. 1933.

It is standard for a forensic social worker/mitigation specialist in a capital case to obtain a comprehensive history on the client. ROA V. XV, p.330-31. The work of a mitigation specialist involves speaking to the client, then the relatives, then obtaining records, talking to more people and screening for experts on psychological issues. Id. Counsel proffered the testimony of Ms. Baker that she had reviewed Ms. Pisters testimony and report and stated that Ms. Pisters did not conduct the equivalent of a comprehensive social history/mitigation investigation. Id. at 329; 398-99. ² Ms. Baker also confirmed it would be impossible to do an adequate mitigation investigation in six weeks. Id. at 376.

² The lower courts refusal, upon objection by the State, to allow Ms. Baker to render an opinion as to whether what Ms. Pisters did was the equivalent of a comprehensive social history investigation is raised as error in Argument IV.

Biological factors Ms. Baker found which should have prompted further investigation into brain damage in Alvin-s case included: severe birth trauma, pneumothorax as an infant; inability to remember his address, phone or school locker number as a teenager; inadequate nutrition in childhood; head trauma from abuse, and a lack of coordination up to age eight. ROA V. XV p. 333-36. Sociological factors which should have prompted further investigation included: family dysfunction going back more than one generation; continued contact with Virgil after the age of eight; physical and sexual abuse; neglect; poverty and witnessing violence. Id. at 335-38. Psychological factors which should have prompted further investigation included: Alvin-s inability to understand mood or feelings; Alvin-s habit sticking needles in his arms; indicators that Alvin=s emotional age was significantly less than his chronological age such as not meeting developmental milestones, playing video games, riding bicycles and failing to blend with his age group; the descriptions in police and expert reports of Alvin as Arobotlike@; his inability to connect with other children; his failure have close friends or a girlfriend; and his mother=s description of how he did not like to be touched and his fixation with clocks. Id. at 335-56. Based on her findings, Ms. Baker recommended Alvin be tested for autism. Id. at 370.

Mitigation Testimony Presented at Hearing

Robin Johnson testified that she is Alvin=s aunt, but is only seven years older than Alvin, and saw the family approximately once a week when Virgil and Barbara Stacey were still married. ROA V. XIX P. 904. Ms. Johnson said no one contacted her prior to 2000 about testifying and would have testified if asked. Id. at 911. She described horrific violence, poverty, and sexual abuse of Alvin by his father. Id. at 904-21.

Jerry Baker said he saw Virgil tease Alvin about alligators and then throw him in a river leaving him to drown and backhanding him across the mouth for asking for a glass of water. ROA V. XIX, p. 925-27. He also said Alvin Azoned out, while the other kids were playing and was always covered in bruises. Id. at 927-29.

Paula Henricks, an aunt of Virgil=s, testified to the extensive abuse she witnessed. She had never been contacted by Alvin=s attorneys but would have testified. ROA v. XVI, p. 519. She saw Virgil slap Alvin and break his glasses.@ Id. Claudia Baker confirmed that Virgil did this so often the family just taped them and put them back on. ROA V. XV, p.353.

Angela Morton confirmed that she and Alvin continued to have frequent contact with Virgil after their parents divorced. ROA

V. XVIII, p. 850, 860. On one of these visits, Virgil strangled a puppy because it jumped on Angela and then made Alvin bury it. Id. at 850-51; V. XV, p. 350-51. Claudia Baker also spoke to several of Alvins relatives who confirmed that both Alvin and Angela saw Virgil weekly at Toppers and had their own beds there, even though Virgil had been caught sexually abusing Angela. Id. Virgil also kicked a tethered dog so often its intestines started to Ahang out. Id. at 365.

Evidence of neglect included Leroy Joslin describing the children to Ms. Baker as always Adirty, hungry kids. Id. at 361. Mr. Joslin would give them a bath and the water would turn brown because they were so dirty. Id. Jeannette Baker, Alvins aunt, told Claudia Baker, that when she visited the family the only items in the refrigerator were a stick of butter and a sixpack of beer. Id at 338-39. Alvin had 19 aunts and uncles who witnessed Virgils abuse of Alvin, none of whom reported it. Id. at 362-63. Ms. Baker also explained that the failure of Barbara Stacy to obtain counseling for Alvin was a form of neglect. Almost all of the relatives knew there was something wrong with Alvin and repeatedly told Barbara Stacy to get him help but Ms. Stacy denied this. Id. Ms. Baker explained that as the mother of a capital defendant Barbara Stacy had a perception of wanting to believe she and Les had done everything they could, but this was

inconsistent with the facts Ms. Baker heard from other people. ROA V. XVI, p. 506-07.

Ms. Baker also discovered inter-generational dysfunction in Alvin=s background including alcoholism, mental illness and physical and sexual abuse. ROA V. XV, p. 345-48 These facts are relevant because it affects the parents= ability (Barbara and Virgil) to parent their children. Id.

Ms. Baker also discovered that in the four years prior to the offense, the Stacys had lived in four or five residences due to evictions and a personal bankruptcy. ROA V. XV, p. 358-59. Mr. Urso conceded that he never knew of the bankruptcy, HRNG - 32, 105, and did not know the number of times the family moved. Id. Ms. Baker was told that the luxury items described in cross examination, e.g. Alvin-s tv and stereo, were second hand, often broken, and bought at garage sales. ROA V. XV, p. 360-61.

Robin Johnson described the family=s living conditions when ABarb and Les got together@ as a two-bedroom house with Alots of cockroaches.@ ROA V. XIX, p. 910. Ms. Johnson also said the family lived paycheck to paycheck and wore hand-me-downs. Id.

Les Stacy, Alvin=s stepfather, was not contacted by defense counsel but would have testified. ROA V. XVI, P. 519 He stated he spent essentially no time interacting with Alvin. Id. at 532,546-48, 551. When he came home from work, Mr. Stacy sat in

the dining room and read books. Id. at 551. Angela corroborated Les=s failure to interact with Alvin. ROA V. XVIII, p. 853, 855. Mr. Stacy was a self-described Astand-offish@ person who did not like to get close to people because he was afraid he would Ablow-up.@ ROA Vol. XV, p. 364-65. This was in part based on Mr. Stacy=s bad conduct discharge from the military after being convicted of two counts of assault with intent to kill. Id.; Def. Ex. ROA Vol. XI, p. 1856-81)

Mental Health Investigation and Mitigation

Prior to the 1994 trial, Barbara Stacy gave Mr. Urso a hand written letter detailing Alvin-s birth.(Def. Ex. 1, ROA Vol. XI, p. 1783) Mr. Urso recognized the letter. ROA V. XIV, p. 46. Mr. Urso conceded he knew Alvin was premature and breach at birth but this was an inaccurate or incomplete understanding of the birth. ROA V. XIV, p. 43. In spite of this information, he never saw or obtained the birth records. ROA V. XIV, p. 27-28; 49, 52-53.

Mr. Urso failed to tell Dr. DelBeato what little he did know about Alvin=s birth, i.e. that he was premature and breach. He admitted he knew Virgil kicked Alvin in the head with a steel-toe boot but never told Dr. DelBeato about it. ROA V. XIV, p. 75. Mr. Urso stated he would have given Alvin=s medical records to Dr. DelBeato if he had had them. Id. Mr. Urso never asked Dr.

DelBeato to evaluate Alvin for brain damage, even though he claimed he suspected brain damage enough to try to consult a neurologist. ROA V. XIV, p. 72; 74. He confirmed that he did not give any documents, reports or background information to Dr. DelBeato either before **or after** Dr. DelBeato-s evaluation of Alvin as that was not his policy. ROA V. XIV, p. 54, 76 -77; V. XXI, p. 1187.

Dr. Berland testified that it is essential for a forensic expert to seek collateral data on a defendant-s background to be sure that you are getting accurate information. Id. at 1293 Dr. Silva testified that corroboration in forensic mental health examinations is Acrucial. Id. at 1234.

Dr. Berland opined that Alvin has a chronic psychotic disturbance with Aa history of significant brain trauma. ROA V. XVI, p. 566. It is important to look for brain injury Abecause it is an important mitigator..., an important cause of changes in behavior, [and] it can be a cause of biologically determined mental illness. Id. at 565. His routine practice if he is told of birth trauma, and he always asks questions to get information about birth trauma, is to ask the attorneys to get the birth records. Id. at 568.

Dr. Silva conducted objective testing, reviewed documents, including the birth records, in diagnosing Alvin with Aspergers

Disorder and Cognitive Disorder - NOS, also referred to as brain damage. ROA XVII,p. 661 He also found that Alvin had a personality disorder not otherwise specified with signs of schizoid personality disorder and antisocial traits. <u>Id</u>. He did not find psychosis in Alvin and in that regard he differed from Dr. Berland.

He stated that just based on a face to face interview with Alvin he suspected brain damage and would not have failed to consider it regardless of his knowledge of Alvins anoxia at birth. Id. at 750-51. The anoxia, however, is relevant to his diagnosis of brain damage. Failing to recognize brain damage in Alvin or discover the anoxia at birth would be something a medical student should not miss. Id.

Dr. DelBeato=s Testimony

Dr. DelBeato claimed that in 1994 he was aware of Alvin-s anoxia at birth but did not consider it important so did not mention it in his report. He offered his opinion that Alvin does not have Asperger-s Disorder or brain damage and is confident his initial diagnosis was accurate.

Dr. DelBeato-s test scores, notes and raw data no longer exist. No one has ever seen his records or test scores. Even Dr. Gonzalez, who was retained in 1994, never saw Dr. DelBeato-s test results. The only existing document of Dr. DelBeato-s work

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