IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALVIN LEROY MORTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE No. SC06-2091

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Hodges, 885 So. 2d at 350-351.

This case is more aggravated than <u>Hodges</u>, with an extremely brutal, double homicide - each supported by multiple aggravators - and a near unanimous (11-1) jury recommendation after the jury was fully exposed to much of the same evidence post-conviction counsel presented with regard to Morton's background. Morton has fallen far short of establishing a reasonable probability of a different result had counsel presented additional evidence of Morton's dysfunctional background. <u>See Breedlove v. State</u>, 692 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1997) (three aggravating factors of during a burglary, HAC, and prior violent felony overwhelmed the mitigation testimony of family and friends offered at the postconviction hearing); <u>Tompkins v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1989)(post-conviction evidence of abused childhood and drug addiction would not have changed outcome in light of three aggravating factors of HAC, during a felony, and prior violent convictions).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MORTON'S CLAIMS THAT HE WAS DENIED A COMPETENT MENTAL HEALTH EXAMINATION BELOW AND DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE BACKGROUND MATERIAL TO THE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT. (STATED BY APPELLEE).

As noted above, under Issue I, trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation into Morton's background, talking to family members, hiring a mental health counselor and social worker [Ms. Pisters], reviewed school records, talked to teachers, and hired a respected local mental health expert to examine Morton. Competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's rejection of Morton's due process and related ineffective assistance of counsel claims based upon the investigation and presentation of mental health testimony.

In rejecting this claim, the trial court stated, in part:

...Defendant's claims that Dr. DelBeato failed to meet with or speak to Mimi Pisters is refuted by the testimony of both Dr. DelBeato and Mr. Urso that Dr. DelBeato did meet with Ms. Pisters. See Evidentiary Hearing Transcript (hereinafter EHT), pp. 210, 885, 917-918, 922, 928-929, 1025. This claim, therefore, relates solely to Defendant's allegation that Dr. DelBeato conducted an inadequate mental health evaluation of Defendant, and that counsel failed to ensure otherwise. Defendant did not offer any evidence to show that Dr. DelBeato is not qualified to conduct mental health evaluations. Nor has Defendant established that Dr. DelBeato's evaluation and diagnosis of Defendant is not accurate. Dr. Arturo Gonzalez, a psychiatrist who testified for the State at Defendant's trial and testified at the evidentiary hearing in this case, concurred with Dr. DelBeato's diagnosis. See 1999 Penalty Phase Transcript (hereinafter PPT), pp. 671-673; Continuation of Evidentiary Hearing/Testimony of Dr. Arturo Gonzalez Transcript

(hereinafter CEHT), pp. 23, 28. Defendant has only established that he has found experts who disagree with Dr. DelBeato's diagnosis, and, it should be noted, with each other.

Although Dr. Gonzalez did not actually interview Defendant prior to his testimony at the first penalty phase, he did meet with and speak to Defendant prior to the second penalty phase, and he reviewed the reports of both Dr. DelBeato and Mimi Pisters, a clinical social worker, which both indicated Defendant suffered from antisocial personality disorder. See CEHT, pp. 23, 44. Dr. Gonzalez subsequently reviewed the report and test results from Dr. Robert Berland, an expert in forensic psychology who testified on Defendant's behalf at the evidentiary hearing. Although he noted that the MMPI results in Dr. Berland's testing had improved since Dr. DelBeato's testing and the psychopathic deviate scale, scale four, was not elevated "to the degree that becomes pathological," he nevertheless concluded that Defendant had antisocial personality traits because scale four was the most elevated of the clinical See CEHT, pp. 43-44. Such findings did not, scales. however, change his opinion as to Defendant's original diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder. See CEHT, p. 83.

Defendant's arguments in this claim are all based upon the assumption that Defendant does have brain damage or another mental disorder, but could not have antisocial personality disorder. Such assumption has not been proven. In addition to Dr. Berland, Defendant presented testimony Dr. Jose Arturo Silva, an expert from in forensic psychiatry and lifespan cultural psychiatry. Both experts testified that they believe Defendant suffered from organic brain damage. See EHT, pp. 562, 590. But both experts also arrived at different main diagnoses. Dr. Berland diagnosed Defendant as suffering from chronic psychotic disturbance and Dr. Silva diagnosed Defendant as suffering from Asperger's disorder and personality disorder not otherwise specified, "with а significant number of schizoid personality disorder and also some evidence of antisocial traits." See EHT, pp. 523, 529, 590-591. Dr. Silva also opined that he does not believe Defendant is schizophrenic or that Defendant 'has been psychotic as far as [he could] see ever." See EHT, pp. 664. Such opinion is at odds with the diagnosis of Defendant's other expert, Dr. Berland.

Not only did Dr. Silva disagree with Dr. Berland's diagnosis, but neither of the State's experts found any evidence of psychosis or psychotic thought disorder. See

EHT, *pp*. 874, 883- 884; *CEHT*, *pp*. 84. Moreover, Dr. Berland's opinion may be skewed. When asked if he considered whether Defendant had antisocial personality disorder, Dr. Berland stated that:

"As I perceive it, it is not my job to try to elaborate on things that would be harmful to him, not to say that they might not exist, but it's my job to see whether there are legitimate indications of things that would be helpful. So that while in some cases there may be some evidence of antisocial personality disorder, it's not something that I develop in detail, because that's not what I've been asked to do." See EHT, p. 526.

Dr. Berland also testified that he based his diagnosis of psychotic thought disorder solely on the results of the MMPI test he administered. See EHT, pp. 538-539, 572. Dr. Gonzalez, however, testified that the MMPI Dr. Berland administered was "normal" or "beautiful." See CEHT, pp. 20-22. Dr. DelBeato concluded that he could not diagnose someone with psychotic thought disorder on the basis of that MMPI profile. See EHT, pp. 883-884. Although Dr. DelBeato testified that the L, F, and K validating scales on the MMPI were within normal limits, and the only clinical scale that was elevated was the scale four, Dr. Berland opined that the elevation of the L and K scales elevates the diagnostic scale eight to a psychosis level. See EHT, pp. 574-580, 882-883. However, Dr. Berland acknowledged that he was not aware of any research or accepted studies in the literature to confirm his anecdotal observations regarding the correlation between the elevation of the L and K scales allowing for an adjustment in scale eight. See EHT, pp. 577-5 78.

Defendant's Neither of expert witnesses could establish conclusively that Defendant did suffer from Both Dr. DelBeato and Dr. Gonzalez organic brain damage. testified that they saw no evidence of organic brain damage and, therefore, no reason to investigate further. See EHT, pp. 870, 1018-1019; CEHT, pp. 17-18, 56. Although Defendant criticizes [sic] his trial counsel for failing to perform any type of neuro-imaging of Defendant's brain, his current counsel has not had Defendant tested to provide objective evidence that such organic brain damage actually exists. See EHT, p. 754. Furthermore, the unrefuted testimony was that trial counsel recommended further testing prior to Defendant's second penalty phase in 1999, but Defendant refused to submit to any further testing. See EHT, pp. *207-209.* In a letter dated May 5, 1997, Mr. Swisher mentions to Mr. Urso having seen an article and television special about brain development, and questions whether they should have Defendant tested. See Letter of May 5, 1997. Mr. Urso testified that, although there had been no indication of brain damage, they considered testing for it in this case because there was literature to suggest that people who were unattached and unbonded may have brain abnormalities. See EHT, pp. 64, 20 7-209, 239.

Aside from Dr. Berland's and Silva's Dr. unsubstantiated opinions contradicting those of Dr. DelBeato and Dr. Gonzalez, Defendant has not provided any objective evidence that he has organic brain damage. Nor has Defendant established that Dr. DelBeato's diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder was not valid based on the information and testing available at the time. When asked whether, applying the DSM-IV to the facts in the record, he found that Defendant met the constructs of conduct disorder or antisocial personality disorder, Dr. Silva stated, "He comes close. It's one of those situations where it is close. It's one of those cases where it's very close." See EHT, p. 691. Dr. Silva, however, indicated that a person could not be diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder if he suffers from organic brain damage, because psychopathic or antisocial features are linked to the brain See EHT, p. 681. From that perspective, however, injury. one would have to assume as a given fact that the person in question does have organic brain damage. Such has not been satisfactorily established with regard to Defendant in this case.

Defendant failed to offer any evidence to show that Dr. DelBeato is not competent and qualified to conduct a proper mental health examination. Based on the foregoing, this Court finds that Defendant has not established that he did not receive competent mental heath [sic] assistance. Defendant has succeeded only in establishing that he has obtained the assistance of mental health professionals who disagree with the mental health professionals who testified at Defendant's penalty phase hearing, and who disagree with each other as to Defendant's diagnosis. As Defendant has not been able to establish that he did not receive competent mental health assistance, he has not met his burden of proving that counsel was ineffective and this claim is denied accordingly.

(V9, 1433-38).

The trial court's order denying relief on this claim thoroughly evaluated the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing and is supported by competent, substantial evidence.

(A) Defense Counsel's Retention Of Dr. DelBeato And Presentation Of Evidence During The Penalty Phase Did Not Constitute Deficient Performance

Morton faults counsel for deciding to call Dr. DelBeato and Ms. Pisters which revealed Morton possessed Antisocial Personality Disorder. Although arguably some negative information was revealed through Dr. DelBeato, counsel made a reasonable tactical decision to present this testimony. On balance, Dr. DelBeato's testimony was favorable, showing how Morton's early life affected his later decisions and that his conduct must be viewed and evaluated on the basis of his early childhood experiences and his personality dysfunction. The test for determining whether counsel's performance was deficient is whether some reasonable lawyer at trial could have acted under the circumstances as defense counsel acted at trial; the test has nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have done or what most good lawyers would have done. White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218 (11th Cir. 1992). See Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2001) ("Counsel's strategic decisions will not be second quessed on collateral attack."). "Even if in retrospect the strategy appears to have been wrong, the decision

will be held ineffective only if it was so patently unreasonable that no competent attorney would have chosen it." <u>Adams v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 464 U.S. 1663 (1984). As a tactical decision, counsel's decision is virtually immune from post-conviction attack. Morton has not carried his burden of establishing counsel's performance was deficient or that he suffered prejudice.

Swisher, an experienced capital litigator, talked about how he developed a penalty phase defense with Urso:

Well, as I remember, and I think I mentioned it to you, when I first started dealing - - talking with Gary about it, he had recommended a book to me. It was called High Risk, and it dealt with - - I think it was subtitled Children Without a Conscience.

In reading through it, it appeared what led to Alvin's condition is something that was a combination of his environment and genetic background, and that was supported by family.

And I'm sure you've gone through all this, you know, the horrible childhood that he had growing up, some of the signs that were manifested as he had gotten into his early teen years, the fact that his father I believe was in the same jail that he was in when he was initially in custody, had been there for manslaughter and I believe he was in custody for arson, but I'm not a hundred percent on that, and that there was a genetic pattern.

And the treatment that Alvin had received, that information did not come particularly from Alvin, it came from other family members, primarily the sister, as I recall.

(V15, 281).

Swisher and Urso had to pick an expert from the courtappointed list. Urso had used Dr. DelBeato before and was comfortable with him. (V15, 302). If Swisher had heard of a

psychiatrist in San Francisco who charged \$250 dollars an hour he would have had to pay for it personally. (V15, 302-03). So, he and Urso used an expert who was going to abide by the County's fee schedule from the court-appointed list. (V15, 303).

Dr. DelBeato testified during the penalty phase. Swisher thought that the end result was a nasty word or term, but "the events leading up to that is what we wanted to emphasize is that he ended up that way, but it wasn't his fault, for lack of a better word." (V15, 311). The psychopath term was only revealed on cross-examination, whereas Dr. DelBeato and Ms. Pisters utilized the term antisocial tendency or disorder. (V15, 312). The defense theory obviously gained greater credibility because the testimony of Dr. DelBeato did not materially conflict with that of Dr. Gonzalez, the state expert.

Morton's argument that his defense attorneys did not conduct any further investigation into Morton's mental health after remand from the 1994 penalty phase, is incorrect. After the case was remanded for a new penalty phase, Swisher suggested that medical tests not available at the first penalty phase might prove useful. (V21, 1134). Swisher and Urso discussed neuroimaging tests, like PET scans and CAT scans. <u>Id.</u> Such testing, however, requires the cooperation of the defendant. Urso asked Morton "if he was willing to do that, and he said,

no, he didn't want any more testing." (V21, 1134). Swisher testified that after speaking with Morton, neuroimaging was no longer an option. (V21, 1141).

Morton asserts that Urso's hiring of psychologist Dr. Donald Delbeato was deficient performance. However, Dr. DelBeato's professional qualifications have not been challenged and Morton failed to establish that Dr. DelBeato's opinions are unsound. To the extent Morton is raising a Due Process Claim pursuant to Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), the trial court properly found this claim procedurally barred as an issue which should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal. (V9, 1447). See Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 203, n.4 (Fla. 2002) (affirming summary denial of an Ake claim in a post-conviction motion because Ake claims should be raised on direct appeal and therefore, are procedurally barred in post-conviction litigation); Dufour v. State, 905 So. 2d 42, 53-54 (Fla. 2005) (finding Ake claim procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal).

In any case, <u>Ake</u> simply requires a state to provide expert mental health assistance when a defendant's mental state is at issue. Morton received State-funded expert assistance prior to and during trial. <u>See Provenzano v. Singletary</u>, 148 F.3d 1327, 1333-34 (11th Cir. 1998).

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